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CHAPTER 1



INTRODUCTION





Formation and terms of reference of the Select Committee



1.1	On 23 October 1996, the Legislative Council passed a motion to appoint a select committee to inquire into the circumstances surrounding the departure of Mr LEUNG Ming-yin, former Director of Immigration, from the Government and related issues.  In the performance of its duties, the Select Committee was authorized under section 9(2) of the Legislative Council (Powers and Privileges) Ordinance (Cap. 382) to exercise the powers conferred by section 9(1) of that Ordinance, which empowered the Committee to order the attendance of witnesses before it and to give evidence or produce document.





Membership of the Committee



1.2	On 28 October 1996 and 4 November 1996, the President of the Legislative Council appointed the following as members of the Select Committee -



Hon IP Kwok-him				(Chairman)

Hon Mrs Selina CHOW, OBE, JP

Hon Ronald ARCULLI, OBE, JP

Hon CHEUNG Man-kwong

Hon James TO Kun-sun

Dr Hon Philip WONG Yu-hong

Hon Christine LOH Kung-wai

Dr Hon LAW Cheung-kwok

Hon Margaret NG

Hon Mrs Elizabeth WONG, CBE, ISO, JP

Hon Lawrence YUM Sin-ling





Background to the inquiry



A.	The sudden announcement of the retirement of Mr LEUNG Ming-yin



1.3	On 6 July 1996, the Government announced that approval had been given to Mr LEUNG Ming-yin (Mr LEUNG), the then Director of Immigration, to retire from the civil service for personal reason and Mr LEUNG would begin his pre-retirement leave on the same day.  A successor had been identified to fill the post and an announcement would be made pending the completion of appointment procedures.  On 16 July 1996, the Government announced the appointment of Mrs Regina IP LAU Suk-yee as Director of Immigration.





B.	Explanation given at the Legislative Council Panel on Public Service



1.4	The sudden announcement of Mr LEUNG's retirement aroused much public concern and speculation.  In order to obtain a full explanation from the Administration for Mr LEUNG's abrupt retirement, the Legislative Council Panel on Public Service held a meeting with representatives of the Administration on 11 July 1996.  At the meeting, the Secretary for the Civil Service (SCS) informed the Panel that Mr LEUNG had a right to retire as he had reached the age of 55 after serving in the civil service for 31 years. According to the SCS, Mr LEUNG had retired for personal reasons.  The SCS further told the Panel that Mr LEUNG had applied for a waiver of the 12-month notice of retirement for personal reasons.  He had approved the application after considering the personal reasons put forward by Mr LEUNG; the fact that the service provided by the Immigration Department would not be adversely affected; and that public interests would not be harmed even if Mr LEUNG left the service within a short time.



�1.5	In response to the Panel's persistent questioning, the SCS emphasized that Mr LEUNG had the right to retire and he had retired on his own will for personal reasons.  The SCS refused to disclose the reasons for granting the waiver, on the ground that the Administration had an obligation to keep private personal information submitted by civil servants confidential.  The same confidentiality should be accorded to the particulars relating to Mr LEUNG's application.  The SCS only confirmed that the receipt and approval of Mr LEUNG's application to retire took place within the same week in which Mr LEUNG's retirement was announced.



1.6	In the absence of a satisfactory explanation for the immediate and abrupt departure of Mr LEUNG and to avoid heightening speculation of a government cover-up which could seriously undermine the credibility of the Government, the Panel considered it necessary for the Legislative Council to conduct its own inquiry into the case.  On 20 September 1996, the Legislative Council House Committee accepted the Panel's recommendation that a select committee should be set up to conduct an inquiry into the circumstances surrounding the departure of Mr LEUNG.





Procedures for conducting the inquiry



1.7	In conducting the inquiry, the Committee has followed the procedures stipulated in the Legislative Council Standing Order No. 62.  It has also made reference to the procedures and practices adopted by the Council's committees which have previously conducted similar inquiries under the Legislative Council (Powers and Privileges) Ordinance.



1.8	When deciding upon the procedures to be adopted, the Committee has had regard to the need to be fair and to be seen to be fair to all parties whose interests or reputation may be at stake during the proceedings. The Committee has also been conscious of the need to conduct the proceedings efficiently and with as much expedition as practicable.

�1.9	At its first meeting held on 8 November 1996, the Committee decided that all witnesses who were summonsed to attend the Committee's hearings to give evidence or produce documents, or both, were  to be required to take an oath or make an affirmation before giving evidence. The Committee has also acceded to a number of requests from some witnesses who requested that they be permitted to give some of their evidence in camera. Some of the Committee's hearings have been conducted in closed session.



1.10	Having regard to the possibility that claims of public interest immunity might be made by witnesses who refused to answer questions or produce documents, the Committee proposed certain technical amendments to the Resolution passed by the Legislative Council on 25 May 1994 concerning the determination of such claims should they be made.  On 20 November 1996, the  Legislative Council passed a Resolution to the effect that the authority for determining whether a claim of public interest immunity should be allowed would rest with the chairman of a select committee where there was no deputy chairman of the committee.  On 16 April 1997, a further amendment was made to the Resolution.  The Resolution, as amended, is in Appendix I.





Work of the Committee



1.11	Between November 1996 and May 1997, the Committee held 13 hearings to receive evidence from witnesses who were the Government officials concerned and Mr LEUNG himself.  The list of witnesses who appeared at those hearings is in Appendix II.  Twenty-nine internal meetings were held to review the progress of the inquiry, examine the evidence collected and draft the Committee Report.  Closed meetings were also arranged for members of the Committee to view three video tapes recording Mr LEUNG's interviews with officers of the Independent Commission Against Corruption (ICAC).

�CHAPTER 2



THE CIRCUMSTANCES SURROUNDING MR LEUNG 

MING-YIN'S DEPARTURE FROM THE GOVERNMENT





Introduction



2.1	The testimony given by Government officials regarding the circumstances surrounding Mr LEUNG's departure was in two stages, with the dividing line being the testimony given by Mr LEUNG at the hearing on 10 January 1997.  This Chapter outlines the evidence given by Government officials and Mr LEUNG himself at different stages.  The principles adopted by the Committee in receiving evidence in camera and the proceedings concerning the issue on the Committee's order for the disclosure of the ICAC report to the ICAC Operations Review Committee by the Government are also discussed.





Evidence given by Government officials before Mr LEUNG Ming-yin had given his testimony



2.2	Before summonsing Mr LEUNG to give his testimony, the Committee had held three public hearings to receive evidence from Government officials, namely, Mr LAM Woon-kwong (SCS), Ms Eda CHAN Yee-ting (Personal Assistant to SCS), Mr Christopher LEE Ka-keung (Deputy Director of Immigration), Mrs Regina IP LAU Suk-yee (Director of Immigration), Mr Peter LAI Hing-ling (Secretary  for Security), Mr Donald TSANG Yam-kuen (in his capacity as Acting Chief Secretary on the day Mr LEUNG's retirement was announced), and Ms Sandra LEE (Deputy Secretary for the Civil Service).





A.	Government's assertion that "Mr LEUNG Ming-yin retired on his own initiative for personal reasons"



2.3	The circumstances depicted by the Government officials at this stage were broadly in line with the account given by the SCS to the Legislative Council Panel on Public Service.  In short, the Committee was advised that Mr LEUNG retired on his own initiative for personal reasons.

2.4	At the Committee's first hearing on 22 November 1996, the SCS produced before the Committee Mr LEUNG's letter of application to retire dated 5 July 1996 and his letter of approval issued on the same day. The SCS revealed that the receipt and approval of Mr LEUNG's retirement application took place within the same day.



2.5	The SCS stated that under Civil Service Regulation 327(5) an officer of Mr LEUNG's rank was required to give 12 months’ notice of his intention to retire at the normal retirement age, but a shorter period of notice might be allowed in exceptional circumstances.  The SCS emphasized that Mr LEUNG had the right to retire as he had already reached the normal retirement age of 55 after serving for 31 years in the civil service.



2.6	The SCS also informed the Committee that he had a meeting with Mr LEUNG on the morning of 5 July 1996 when Mr LEUNG's personal circumstances were discussed.  After he had spoken with Mr LEUNG at that meeting, he received Mr LEUNG's letter of retirement at about 4:00 pm, requesting waiver of the usual period of notice.  The SCS sent an approval letter to Mr LEUNG at 5:25 pm, confirming that the period of notice was waived and that Mr LEUNG's retirement would have immediate effect.



2.7	The SCS said that he informed the Acting Chief Secretary and the Secretary for Security by phone after he had received Mr LEUNG's application and his approval was given after taking into account the advice of the Secretary for Security.  The SCS further explained that in approving Mr LEUNG's immediate retirement, he had had regard to Mr LEUNG's personal circumstances; the fact that Mr LEUNG's retirement would not cause any material disruption to the service of the Immigration Department; and that public interest would not be damaged.

�B.	Confidentiality of personal circumstances



2.8	The Committee experienced considerable difficulties in its attempt to establish a complete sequence of events which happened prior to and on the morning of 5 July 1996 and whether a personal reason had been identified at that meeting.  All the Government witnesses who would be privy to the details refused to disclose them on the ground that the confidentiality of Mr LEUNG's personal circumstances had to be safeguarded.  The SCS said that the effective administration of the public service required that civil servants be permitted to discuss their personal circumstances with the SCS in confidence without the subject matter of their conversation being exposed to public scrutiny.



2.9	In response to the Committee's request for disclosure of the substantial contents of his discussion with Mr LEUNG, the SCS insisted that when he agreed to meet a civil servant to discuss the latter's personal circumstances, it was clearly implied that what passed between him and the officer would remain confidential and would not be disclosed to third parties without the officer's consent.  To disclose what had transpired at the interview would undermine the effective administration of the public service and breach the confidentiality of the interview, and would thus be contrary to the public interest.



2.10	In support of his argument, the SCS also made reference to the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance which was to become effective shortly on 20 December 1996.  He stated that the principle of the Ordinance was that personal data should not be disclosed for a purpose other than the purpose for which it was collected, or a related purpose, without the consent of the subject of the data.



2.11	Based on the above rationale, the SCS and the other Government officials refused to reveal any matters which were claimed to fall within the ambit of the circumstances of the exchange between Mr LEUNG and the SCS.  These included the arrangements for the meeting on the morning of 5 July 1996 and the substantial contents of the discussion.  The officials also stated that it would not be in the public interest to confirm or deny whether the ICAC had been approached or involved in relation to Mr LEUNG's departure, or whether Mr LEUNG had been subject to an integrity checking immediately before his retirement.



2.12	In the Committee's attempt to establish who had initiated the meeting on 5 July 1996, the procedures for determining claims of public interest immunity, as specified in the Legislative Council Resolution,  were invoked for the first time in the history of the Legislative Council.  At the hearing on 5 December 1996, the Personal Assistant to SCS refused, on the ground of public interest immunity, to answer a question on whether the meeting on 5 July 1996 was arranged by her under the instruction of the SCS.  In accordance with the procedures provided in the Legislative Council Resolution, she agreed to explain her reasons to the Chairman in confidence.  The Chairman, having considered her explanation, excused her from answering the question.  The Opinion delivered by the Chairman in respect of the claim is in Appendix III.





Mr LEUNG Ming-yin's own account of the circumstances surrounding his departure from the Government



A.	He was compelled to retire



2.13	The inquiry reached a turning point when Mr LEUNG gave evidence to the Committee at the hearing on 10 January 1997.  Mr LEUNG's testimony confirmed the suspicion that his tendering of the notice to retire was not voluntary.



2.14	Mr LEUNG informed the Committee of his own accord that he had been the subject of an ICAC investigation since 1995 and his home and office had been searched by the ICAC on 1 October 1995.  He considered that he was proved to be innocent subsequently as he had received a letter from the ICAC on 24 April 1996 informing him that no further investigation action would be taken due to insufficient evidence.



2.15	Mr LEUNG further gave a detailed account of the meeting between the SCS and himself on the morning of 5 July 1996.  Mr LEUNG stated that he was instructed on 4 July 1996 to meet the SCS at 10:00 am on 5 July 1996.  At the meeting, the SCS told him that the Government requested him to retire from the service with immediate effect because the Government no long trusted him.  He was told that if he did not submit his retirement application by 5:00 pm that day, the Government would take action to require him to retire.  He tried to ask the SCS for the reasons for the Government's loss of trust in him, but to no avail.  The answer given by the SCS was that Mr LEUNG himself ought to know the reasons.

B.	Reasons for choosing to "retire voluntarily"



2.16	Mr LEUNG explained to the Committee that he decided to comply with the Government's request that he retired voluntarily because, first, he was very disappointed and disillusioned at being compelled to retire despite his dedicated service to the Government for over 30 years.  Secondly, if he fought against the Government's action, the morale of the Immigration Department would inevitably be damaged, which he did not want to see.  Mr LEUNG said that he had very deep feelings for the Department and did not want to disrupt the work of the staff because of his own personal affairs.  Thirdly, he could not on his own fight the whole Government .  He considered that even if he succeeded in overturning the decision and could stay in his job, it would be meaningless as he would have to work with people who wanted to compel him to retire.



2.17	Responding to the other witnesses' testimony that he had retired for personal reasons, Mr LEUNG denied the existence of any such reasons.  The Committee questioned why Mr LEUNG had informed the media, in the week following 5 July 1996, that his retirement was for personal reasons and that it was related to the blow caused by the death of his daughter and his own poor health.  Mr LEUNG explained that his state of mind at that time was to try to avoid causing controversy and damaging the morale of the Immigration Department.



2.18	In answer to a member's question, Mr LEUNG confirmed that, after he had submitted his retirement application, he met Mr CHEN Zuo'er, the Chinese representative in the Sino-British Joint Liaison Group, at a coffee shop in Wan Chai.  Mr LEUNG explained that he enjoyed very good working relationship with Chinese officials, including Mr CHEN, with whom he had official dealings.  The meeting with Mr CHEN had been arranged before 5 July 1996 and there was no particular reason for that meeting.  It was only a get-together to discuss matters of mutual concern, such as the work progress of the Joint Liaison Group.  As he had already tendered his retirement application, the meeting lasted for less than ten minutes during which he told Mr CHEN that he was going to retire.

�C.	Obstacles at work and smearing of his reputation



2.19	In his testimony, Mr LEUNG claimed that between 1993 and his retirement in 1996 he had encountered many obstacles at work and felt that he was being picked on.  At the Committee's request, Mr LEUNG cited, in camera, some incidents to demonstrate that he was being circumvented at work in those years.  The Committee will address this claim in Chapter 5.  Mr LEUNG further informed the Committee that initially he had kept quiet reluctantly but subsequently changed his mind and decided to unfold to the Committee the actual circumstances of his departure because he felt that there had been a concerted effort to smear his reputation after the announcement of  his retirement, as evidenced by the allegations made in the British newspaper reports that he had, among other things, leaked confidential information without permission.  The Committee will address this claim in Chapter 4.





Evidence given by Government officials after Mr LEUNG Ming-yin had given his testimony



2.20	In the light of Mr LEUNG's testimony which contradicted the testimony given by the earlier witnesses, the Committee summonsed the concerned Government officials again in order to establish, where possible, the actual circumstances surrounding Mr LEUNG's departure and the Government's justifications for its action.  Apart from Mr LAM Woon-kwong (SCS) and Mr Peter LAI Hing-ling (Secretary for Security), who had given testimony to the Committee before, the other witnesses were Mrs Anson CHAN (Chief Secretary) and Mr TSANG Yam-pui (Deputy Commissioner of Police).



2.21	Prior to appearing before the Committee again, the SCS had published a statement on 10 January 1997 in response to Mr LEUNG's testimony.  The statement is in Appendix IV.



�A.	Mr LEUNG Ming-yin was offered a choice of voluntary retirement or being compelled to retire



2.22	Before the Committee, the SCS explained that matters discussed between a civil servant and the SCS himself concerning personal and employment matters should not be revealed to third parties without the officer's consent.  However, as Mr LEUNG had now chosen to waive the rule of confidentiality, he was able to set out the substance of his discussion with Mr LEUNG on the morning of 5 July 1996.  The SCS confirmed Mr LEUNG's testimony that, at that meeting, Mr LEUNG was offered a choice of either choosing to retire voluntarily with immediate effect or to face proceedings requiring his compulsory retirement in the public interest under Colonial Regulation 59 (CR 59).  The SCS said he had told Mr LEUNG that if he chose to retire voluntarily, the Government would treat his retirement as a personal matter between Mr LEUNG himself and the Government and the press statement would say that he retired for personal reasons.  



2.23	The SCS further said he had told Mr LEUNG that under CR 59, Mr LEUNG would be informed in writing of the grounds on which his retirement was contemplated and he would be given an opportunity to make representations within 14 days from the date of the letter before the SCS made a report to the Governor for a decision as to whether, having regard to all the circumstances, he should be required to retire.  The SCS also told Mr LEUNG that retirement in the public interest under CR 59 was not a form of punishment.  Upon retirement, Mr LEUNG would immediately be granted retirement benefits and his earned leave.  The SCS further told Mr LEUNG that concurrent with the issue of the letter under CR 59 to him, he would be interdicted from duty.  Later the same day, Mr LEUNG chose to retire rather than to face the CR 59 proceedings.





B.	Reasons for contemplating action under Colonial Regulation 59



2.24	The SCS informed the Committee that the ICAC investigation into Mr LEUNG had been conducted following the receipt of a complaint.  According to the Chief Secretary, the Government's decision to institute action under CR 59 against Mr LEUNG was based on the information gathered in the ICAC investigation.  The propriety of that decision was fortified by the findings of an "extended integrity checking" which Mr LEUNG failed.

2.25	The SCS submitted to the Committee a letter, in draft form,  dated 6 July 1996 which, according to the SCS, would have been issued to Mr LEUNG had he chosen not to retire voluntarily.  It was stated in the letter that although the allegation that Mr LEUNG had committed offences under the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance was not substantiated, the ICAC investigation had uncovered information which caused the Government to have grave doubts about Mr LEUNG's personality, integrity and judgement as a senior officer and  his suitability to remain in the service.



2.26	Four incidents in support of the decision to contemplate action under CR 59 were cited in the draft letter.  First, it was pointed out that Mr LEUNG had obtained a loan of $1.76 million from the Government in February 1989 under the Housing Loan Scheme to purchase a property in Canada.  He subsequently sold the property in 1991 but failed to report the sale to the Civil Service Branch as required under paragraph 6 of Terms and Conditions of the Housing Loan Scheme.  The paragraph stated that "in the event of any change to the title deed of the property acquired by an officer under the scheme, the officer shall within 14 days report such change to the Secretary for the Civil Service".  Mr LEUNG only repaid the loan to the Government on 29 April 1996.



2.27	Secondly, in response to a letter dated 3 May 1995 from the Secretary for Security requiring him to declare his investments, Mr LEUNG failed to disclose the full details of his investments, namely his interests in Macrun Profits Ltd, Dragon House Investment Ltd and Fortune Score Limited.  The Chief Secretary stated that the Government took a serious view of Mr LEUNG's non-disclosure of assets and investments and considered that he had blatantly disregarded the rules, despite his attention having been drawn specifically to the requirements and being warned of the consequences of non-compliance, i.e. compulsory retirement or dismissal from the service, as stated in paragraph 25 of the "Guide on CSRs 461 - 466" attached to the Secretary for Security' sletter.

�2.28	Thirdly, Mr LEUNG had entered into business relations with the Hon LAU Wong-fat, a Legislative Council Member, but had failed to disclose the full details of such relations to the Secretary for Security.  According to the findings of the ICAC investigation, the Hon LAU Wong-fat was a shareholder of Dragon Sonic Ltd, which in turn was a major shareholder of Dragon House Investment Ltd, of which Mr LEUNG and his brother jointly held 21% shares.  Both the Hon LAU Wong-fat and Mr LEUNG were directors of Dragon House Investment Ltd.  Whilst the Government noted that Mr LEUNG might have been acting on behalf of the interests of other members of his family in his dealings with the Hon LAU Wong-fat, the Government nevertheless considered that Mr LEUNG should have refrained from developing such business ties with a Legislative Council Member, with whom an officer in his position would inevitably have official dealings from time to time.



2.29	Fourthly, it was stated that Mr LEUNG disclosed during the ICAC investigation that, since becoming Director of Immigration, he had invested $100,000 in a company called New Hong Kong China Advertisement Limited� with a view to developing advertising business in mainland China.  Notwithstanding the fact that the company was subsequently wound up due to its failure to obtain a business licence in mainland China, the Government considered it unacceptable that an officer of Mr LEUNG's seniority and position should seek to start a business venture in mainland China, as he did, without reporting the full details of such a business venture to the Secretary for Security.  It was emphasized that, even if Mr LEUNG had sought permission to engage in such a business venture, permission might not have been given, having regard to his official position as Director of Immigration.

�2.30	In her testimony, the Chief Secretary stated that the Government viewed with serious concern the breaches of the Civil Service Regulations by Mr LEUNG as revealed by the ICAC investigation.  The Chief Secretary said that as the Director of Immigration, Mr LEUNG was heading an important disciplined force responsible for a range of sensitive issues that could affect any person in Hong Kong as well as overseas visitors.  The reputation of the entire Immigration Department, not only in the eyes of the local community but also overseas Governments, depended on Mr LEUNG whose conduct should be exemplary.  She pointed out that in the course of his normal duties, Mr LEUNG himself would have the responsibility to take disciplinary action against junior officers for similar or other breaches.  The Chief Secretary reiterated that the Government demanded a high standard of personal integrity, absolute honesty and accountable behaviour from senior civil servants.  Mr LEUNG's offences called into question his integrity, character and his suitability to remain in the post.





C.	Withholding of "extended checking clearance"



2.31	The SCS revealed that Mr LEUNG was subject to an "extended integrity checking" in November 1995.  According to the SCS, the closeness in the timing of the ICAC investigation and the extended checking on Mr LEUNG was coincidental.  The extended checking was not prompted by the ICAC investigation;  Mr LEUNG became due for the extended checking in 1995 under the normal cycle.



2.32	The SCS said that when the Government received the ICAC investigation report, it was aware that the integrity checking on Mr LEUNG was also in progress and about to be completed soon.  The Government therefore decided to wait for the results of the integrity checking before arriving at a final conclusion.  The SCS stated that, in making an overall assessment of Mr LEUNG's integrity and conduct, he had taken into account all the material information that was available to him, and Mr LEUNG's failure to pass the extended checking reinforced the impression which he had gained from the ICAC report.  The extended checking also confirmed the ICAC findings in respect of Mr LEUNG's investments and assets some of which he had failed to declare, and Mr LEUNG's failure to repay the housing loan to the Government.

�2.33	In order to obtain more information about the extended checking on Mr LEUNG, the Committee summonsed Mr TSANG Yam-pui, Deputy Commissioner of Police, who is responsible for the operation of the extended checking system, to attend a closed session.  The reasons for holding the session in camera are set out in paragraphs 2.37 to 2.39 below.  In his testimony, the Deputy Commissioner briefed the Committee on the operational procedures of the checking system and explained the grounds for not giving Mr LEUNG extended checking clearance.



2.34	The Chief Secretary informed the Committee that notwithstanding that Mr LEUNG had failed the extended checking, the bases for the Government's contemplation of the CR 59 proceedings against Mr LEUNG were the findings of the ICAC investigation, although the integrity checking had assisted the Government in coming to an informed judgement regarding Mr LEUNG's integrity and credibility.



2.35	The Chief Secretary further stated that the Government was entirely justified to require Mr LEUNG to leave his post with one day's notice.  In deciding that Mr LEUNG had to leave the service quickly, the Government's concern was to minimize the adverse impact on staff morale, and to avoid tarnishing the image of the Immigration Department, which could in turn have undermined the confidence which other countries had in the immigration services of the territory.  The Chief Secretary emphasized that there could be no question of Mr LEUNG remaining in post whilst facing the CR 59 proceedings.  Had Mr LEUNG chosen to face action under CR 59, he would have been interdicted from duty immediately in any case.  In her view, given the circumstances, it would not have been prudent to allow Mr LEUNG to remain in charge of sensitive issues and systems whilst serving his period of notice, however short.



�Evidence received by the Committee in camera



2.36	The Committee received evidence at in-camera sessions in relation to the extended checking and the ICAC investigation.



2.37	The Committee called for a copy of the extended checking report in relation to Mr LEUNG in order that it could have all the information which was material to the Government's decision.  In response, the SCS proposed to produce a summary of the report in camera and requested that any questions arising from its contents be asked in confidence and not to be asked of Mr LEUNG, except the information which Mr LEUNG had come to know through the ICAC investigation.



2.38	The SCS stated that the process of extended checking involved the interviewee's referees and supervisors, as well as information sources.  These people and organizations had been guaranteed that the information they gave would be kept confidential and would not be divulged.  Disclosing the full report would render the integrity checking system at stake and the Government would be deprived of a valuable means to assess the reliability of senior officials on whom the credibility of the Government depended.  The SCS assured the Committee that the summary he produced contained the recommendation made by the Police and a full account of the grounds on which the recommendation of not giving extended checking status were made.  The Deputy Commissioner of Police also confirmed that the summary, which was compiled under his direction, contained all the factors material to the conclusion reached by the Police.



2.39	The Committee accepted the proposal of the SCS in recognition of the need to uphold the integrity of the checking system and the assurance that all the facts relevant to the conclusion of the extended checking were already covered in the summary.  For similar reasons, the Committee's session with the Deputy Commissioner of Police concerning the details of the extended checking on Mr LEUNG was held in camera.  Consequently, the evidence received by the Committee in relation to the extended checking would remain confidential to the Committee.

�2.40	In response to the Committee's specific request for a copy of  the ICAC investigation report in respect of Mr LEUNG, the Chief Secretary informed the Committee that the Commissioner, ICAC forwarded to her a letter dated 8 May 1996 with certain enclosures, including a report submitted to the ICAC Operations Review Committee (ORC report).  The Chief Secretary, however, only agreed to disclose in camera the Commissioner's letter and its enclosures other than the ORC report, and asked that any questions arising from the information contained in the documents be asked in camera.



2.41	The Chief Secretary's reasons for producing the ICAC letter in camera were to safeguard the confidentiality of the inner-workings of the ICAC and to avoid compromising its future operation.  She explained that the ICAC operated on the basic principle of confidentiality as it had promised its sources of information that any information supplied by them would not be divulged.  If confidentiality could not be assured, the public might be inhibited from providing information to the ICAC and its effective operation would be adversely affected.



2.42	The Committee shared the Chief Secretary's concern for the need to protect the sources of information and agreed to receive the documents in confidence.  In order to avoid adversely affecting the reputation of third parties who might not be directly relevant to the subject of the inquiry, the Committee also accepted the Government's proposal to obliterate the names of the persons and organizations mentioned in the documents.



2.43	The Committee took into account the importance of respecting the privacy of third parties when it agreed to view the edited version of the three video tapes concerning ICAC officers' interviews with Mr LEUNG.  The Committee was advised that the names of some witnesses and organizations were excised from the soundtrack of the tapes to protect their identities.



2.44	Having viewed the tapes, however, the Committee considered that, subject to Mr LEUNG's consent, the contents of the interviews were of a category which could be revealed to the public, as the names of the individuals and organizations concerned had already been excised and there was no danger of exposing the sources of information.  The Committee sought to secure the agreement of the Chief Secretary and Mr LEUNG to make public the contents of the tapes.  Both the Chief Secretary and Mr LEUNG declined the Committee's request.  As the Committee had agreed to confidentiality as a pre-condition to view the tapes, no further steps could be appropriately taken.

�2.45	Regarding the ORC report, the Committee did not accept the Chief Secretary's decision not to disclose it.  The Chief Secretary said that to disclose the ORC report itself, even in camera, would compromise the future operations of the ORC.  She pointed out that reports prepared for the ORC contained full details of investigations by the ICAC, together with comments, views and assessment, including legal advice of the professionals concerned.  The information was provided to the ORC on a mutual-trust basis.  Any release of the information to third parties would undermine that trust and consequentially the effectiveness of the ORC in its monitoring role.  The ICAC would feel unable to give its full and frank assessment on its investigations and the ORC would feel inhibited in giving its advice if it were not possible to keep such information confidential in future.



2.46	The Committee considered that the reasons put forward by the Chief Secretary in this regard were not justifiable.  It was the Committee's view that it should not be deprived of any substantive material upon which the Government had relied to reach a decision to initiate the CR 59 proceedings against Mr LEUNG.  Moreover, there could be no question of the confidentiality of information being compromised if the report was submitted to the Committee in camera.  However, in determining its course of action, the Committee took into account the Chief Secretary's assertion that apart from the names of various persons, referred to in the interviews with Mr LEUNG, the ORC report contained nothing of a factual nature which had not been disclosed to the Committee.  The Committee therefore decided that it would proceed no further on the issue if the Chairman was given access to the ORC report and was able to advise the Committee that the report contained no material information upon which the Government's decision was ultimately based which had been omitted from the information supplied to the Committee.  However, the Chief Secretary rejected this option and claimed that disclosure of the ORC report to either the Committee or the Chairman was not necessary to enable the Committee fairly to examine the circumstances of Mr LEUNG's departure and any other directly related matters.

�2.47	Having formed the view that it was necessary for the Committee to have access to the ORC report in order to confirm that it had not been deprived of any substantive information upon which the Government had relied to reach its decision, the Committee issued a summons on 17 April 1997 to the Chief Secretary ordering her to appear before the Committee at the hearing on 24 April 1997 and produce a copy of the ORC report.  On 22 April 1997, the Committee received an Originating Summons, issued on the application of the Attorney General, claiming a Declaration from the court that the Chief Secretary might properly withhold production of the ORC report to the Committee on the grounds that "such disclosure is not necessary to enable the Select Committee fairly to examine the circumstances of Mr LEUNG's departure or any directly related issues; or disclosure of the report would be injurious to the public interest".



2.48	The Committee considered that it was plainly its privilege to decide on what information it should have in order that it was able to fully and fairly inquire into the circumstances surrounding the departure of Mr LEUNG from the Government and related issues.  In the Committee's view, claims for public interest immunity should be decided by the Chairman in accordance with the procedures provided in the Legislative Council Resolution.  As such, the legal proceedings instituted by the Attorney General on the Chief Secretary's behalf, before the Chairman had formed an opinion as to whether the Chief Secretary's claim of privilege was justified, was premature.  



2.49	At the hearing on 24 April 1997, the Chief Secretary refused to produce the ORC report on the ground of public interest immunity and, according to the procedures of the Legislative Council Resolution, explained her reasons to the Chairman in confidence.

�2.50	After adjourning the hearing to take legal advice, the Chairman resumed the hearing on 9 May 1997 and delivered the Opinion that in all the circumstances, the Chief Secretary had not provided sufficient reason to justify her claim of privilege on the ground that the production of the ORC report would be contrary to the public interest.  The Chairman's Opinion is in Appendix V.   Following the delivery of the Chairman's Opinion and in accordance with the procedures provided in the Legislative Council Resolution, the Committee ordered the Chief Secretary to produce a copy of the ORC report to the Chairman and allowed her to obliterate from the report the names of persons, and the comments, views and assessment, including legal advice, of the professionals concerned.  Subsequently, the Chief Secretary produced a copy of the report to the Chairman on 15 May 1997 in accordance with the terms of the Committee's order.



2.51	Having perused the ORC report produced to him, the Chairman advised the Committee on 15 May 1997 that "the report contained no material information upon which the Government's decision was ultimately based which had been omitted from the information supplied to the Committee".  The legal proceedings for seeking a Declaration was subsequently discontinued by the Attorney General on 19 May 1997.



2.52	A copy of the statement made by the Chairman on 19 May 1997 on the issue is in Appendix VI.



�CHAPTER 3



MR LEUNG MING-YIN'S RESPONSE TO 

THE GOVERNMENT'S ALLEGATIONS





Introduction



3.1	After receiving evidence from Government officials concerning the grounds for contemplating CR 59 action against Mr LEUNG, the Committee summonsed Mr LEUNG to provide him with the opportunity to give further evidence.  Mr LEUNG responded in public to the evidence given by the SCS at the open hearing held on 22 November 1996.  He also responded in camera to questions relating to his interviews with ICAC officers during the ICAC investigation.





Delay in the repayment of housing loan



3.2	In response to the allegation that he had delayed the repayment of the housing loan amounting to $1.76 million for five years, Mr LEUNG explained that he had obtained the loan in 1989 to purchase a house in Canada and the house had subsequently been sold in 1991.  The sale proceeds were used to buy another house, also in Canada.  This second house was also eventually sold at the end of 1993.  The sale proceeds were remitted to Hong Kong and held in the bank on fixed deposit.



3.3	Mr LEUNG admitted that he was negligent in overlooking the requirement under the Terms and Conditions of the Housing Loan Scheme to report the sale of his property to the Government in 1991 and to repay the loan in 1993 after the sale of the second property.  However, he said that he had no intention to deceive the Government in order to profit financially.  He had failed to repay the loan because he had been busy with his official duties.  He became aware of the failure only when it was brought up in the course of the ICAC investigation and he repaid the money as soon as the investigation was over.  Mr LEUNG stated that the interest he gained from the fixed deposit was less than the interest he had to pay on the loan he received from the Government.  Therefore, not only had he not derived any financial benefits, he had actually suffered a loss due to interest differentials.

Unclear and confusing guidelines on declaration of investments



3.4	Responding to the allegation that he had failed to disclose the full details of his investments, Mr LEUNG said that in making the declarations, he had in mind the principle that there should be no conflict of interest between his official duties and his private investments.  He explained that whilst he had endeavoured to comply with the declaration requirements in accordance with the “Guide on CSRs 461 - 466” appended in the Annex to the Secretary for Security's letter to him in 1995, the guidelines were unclear and confusing.  He recalled that he had once sought clarification from the Secretary for Security on an informal occasion as to what he had to declare, but no substantive answer was given him.



3.5	Mr LEUNG further pointed out that when he made declarations to the Secretary for Security, he had taken into consideration the criteria set out in the Guide that investments required to be reported were confined to those in Hong Kong and which he controlled or managed directly, and to investment transactions involving a value equivalent to HK$200,000. 





Investment in Macrun Profits Ltd



3.6	Mr LEUNG explained that he had not declared his interest in Macrun Profits Ltd in 1995 because, although he owned one-third of the shares of the company, it was purely an investment made by his wife and he had no direct management or control of it.



3.7	Mr LEUNG informed the Committee that his wife set up the company after their daughter had passed away in Canada.  At that time, his wife had to go through a lot of procedures to deal with their daughter's estate.  On the advice of her friends, his wife formed an offshore company, i.e. Macrun Profits Ltd, with a view to transferring the family's properties to it gradually to facilitate the handling of future taxation and estate matters. The company only held the shares of the Chrysanthemum Chinese Restaurant in Hong Kong and his wife's investments in a hotel project in mainland China. His wife was only a silent partner in the hotel project.  Mr LEUNG stressed that he was not aware of the details of the company as it was solely his wife's business, and he therefore did not feel obliged to declare it. 



Investment in Fortune Score Limited



3.8	Regarding the allegation that he had failed to declare the full details of his investment in Fortune Score Limited, Mr LEUNG stated that this company only held two properties.  He had declared the one which was much more expensive than the other one which he had not declared.  He had not reported the other property because he was unsure whether he actually owned it from the legal point of view.  At the time when he was required to make declarations, he had only signed a provisional sale and purchase agreement in respect of the property and he was already putting the property up for resale.  He had consulted his lawyer friends as to whether the property was regarded as in his ownership, but the replies were confusing.  In the circumstances, he decided not to declare it.  Mr LEUNG emphasized that he had no motive to deceive the Government by concealing the full extent of his assets.





Investment in Dragon House Investment Ltd



3.9	In response to the allegation that he had failed to declare his interest in Dragon House Investment Ltd, Mr LEUNG stated that the lots of land held by the company had been bought by his mother in 1977 and transferred to him and his brother in 1990.  The land actually belonged to his family and he was only acting on behalf of the interests of his brothers and sisters.  He did not on his own have control over the land nor could he make decisions concerning its development without the consent of the other members of his family.





Business relations with the Hon LAU Wong-fat



3.10	On the allegation that he had developed business ties with Mr LAU Wong-fat, a Legislative Council Member, and failed to report such ties to the Secretary for Security, Mr LEUNG explained that Mr LAU had in 1991 acquired the piece of land adjacent to the lots owned by his family in the name of a company, and Dragon House Investment Ltd was eventually formed.  Initially, he had had no idea that Mr LAU was involved in the company.







3.11	Mr LEUNG admitted that he had subsequently met Mr LAU at the company's meetings.  Nevertheless, Mr LEUNG stressed that the company had never been involved in any business transactions, nor had he derived any financial profits from it.  In these circumstances, he did not perceive any conflict of interest between his official duties and his business links with Mr LAU.  It had not occurred to him, therefore, that he should declare this relation.  However, in the course of the inquiry Mr LEUNG eventually conceded that his business relations with Mr LAU would possibly constitute a potential conflict of interest with his official position.





Business venture in mainland China



3.12	On the allegation that he had failed to report his attempt to start a business venture in mainland China through investing in New Hong Kong China Advertising Limited, Mr LEUNG referred to the guidelines on declaration requirements.  He did not think that his investment in the company fell into the category that called for declaration under the guidelines, as the amount of his investment was less than $200,000 which was the value required to be reported, and the company had not carried on any business in Hong Kong.  Moreover, he did not have control or direct management over the company, not to mention that his interest in it had already ceased at the time when the Secretary for Security required him to declare his investments.



3.13	Mr LEUNG also dismissed the suggestion that his attempt to start an advertising company in mainland China would give rise to a conflict of interest with his official duties.  He claimed that he did not envisage any possibility of the duties of a Director of Immigration being compromised by engaging in an advertising company, the business of which was in no way related to immigration matters.



3.14	When questioned by the Committee, Mr LEUNG gave an account of his business relations with Mr TSUI Tsin-tong.  Mr LEUNG confirmed that he and Mr TSUI were business partners in New Hong Kong China Advertising Limited and the Chrysanthemum Chinese Restaurant.  Mr LEUNG explained that he had known Mr TSUI for some 20 to 30 years and it was by coincidence that they entered into business relations.  Actually, he had initially had no idea that Mr TSUI was involved in the advertising company and only knew about it a few months later, upon receipt of the company's documents.

3.15	Mr LEUNG did not consider that the business ties between him and Mr TSUI would constitute a conflict of interest, as they were only engaged in an advertising company.  Furthermore, he had not derived any financial benefits from these business ventures and he had never sought to use his official position to favour Mr TSUI or to solicit benefit from Mr TSUI.



3.16	On the whole, Mr LEUNG admitted that he had been negligent in not reporting some of his investments and assets.  However, he had not concealed any of the information intentionally with a view to deceiving the Government.  He had paid due regard to the declaration requirements and exercised his discretion when in doubt.  In the face of the unclear and confusing guidelines, he felt that it was grossly unfair for the Government to hold him responsible for not disclosing those investments which, in the Government's point of view, should be reported.  Neither did he agree that his inadvertent mistakes warranted the severe actions taken against him.





Withholding of "extended checking clearance"



3.17	As regards the extended checking, Mr LEUNG criticized it as a darkroom operation with no transparency at all.  He had not the least idea why he failed the integrity checking.  As he had no access to the checking report, he was deprived of a chance to answer any allegations made against him or to clarify any misunderstanding that might have arisen in the course of the checking interview.  He absolutely could not accept that the reasons for not giving him extended checking clearance should be withheld from him.

�CHAPTER 4



MEDIA REPORTS ON MR LEUNG MING-YIN'S 

DEPARTURE FROM THE GOVERNMENT





Introduction



4.1	Since Mr LEUNG's departure from service, a number of reports in the newspapers, particularly in the British press, suggested that Mr LEUNG's departure was related to possible breaches of the confidentiality of information entrusted to him.  These reports aroused much concern and worries in the community.  This Chapter addresses these reports which caused the public concern and outlines the response by the Government and Mr LEUNG, as well as the Committee's comments in this regard.





Reports in the media



4.2	In summary, the newspaper reports suggested that Mr LEUNG had breached the duties of the Director of Immigration and leaked confidential information to the Chinese authorities without permission.  The newspapers reported that -



(a)	Mr LEUNG had reached an agreement with the Chinese Government, without the permission of the British Government, for the passports of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (HKSAR) to be printed by a pro-China printing company which had no experience in printing passports, arousing concern not only about the ability of the company to print international-standard passports, but also the level of security in the distribution of the passports;

�(b)	Mr LEUNG had passed on sensitive information to Chinese officials with whom he had unusually close relations.  Such information included details on Chinese dissidents in Hong Kong; the nationality status and rights of abode overseas of senior officials of the Hong Kong Government; and, particularly, the beneficiaries of the British Nationality Selection Scheme1 (BNSS); and



(c)	Mr LEUNG had, without the consent of the Hong Kong Government, reached an agreement with the Chinese Government for increasing the quota of "one-way permits"2 and permitted the unauthorized provision of such permits to mainland Chinese who wished to settle in Hong Kong.





Response by the Government



4.3	In giving evidence to the Committee, the Government officials dismissed the newspaper reports as untrue.  The SCS said that the reports were pure conjecture and totally unfounded.  The Chief Secretary specifically addressed these allegations in her testimony and stated categorically that -



(a)	there was no evidence  to suggest that the integrity and security of any systems had been compromised, including the process for issuing the HKSAR passports, which was handled by the Immigration Department;



(b)	there was no evidence and no reason to suppose that Mr LEUNG was or had been a "Chinese agent";

�(c)	there was no evidence and no reason to believe that the list of BNSS beneficiaries had been compromised.  In any case, Mr LEUNG, as Director of Immigration, did not personally hold the list; and



(d)	the Government had no evidence and no reason to believe that Mr LEUNG had passed any information on asylum seekers in Hong Kong to unauthorized parties.  Mr LEUNG did not personally hold such information, nor did the Government have any record of his seeking to acquire it. 



4.4	At the Committee's request, the Chief Secretary provided the Committee with supplementary information outlining the system in place in the Immigration Department to safeguard the security of information on BNSS beneficiaries.  The Committee was advised that the Department's system was so designed that a full list of BNSS beneficiaries was only held in the computer system and Mr LEUNG did not have direct access to the list.  In addition, under the system, all computer transactions performed by Immigration Department staff were logged in the system and recorded in Audit Trail Reports for checking and auditing by their supervisors.  Any unauthorized attempts through the terminals to access information in the system would be logged and recorded in the Invalid Access Report for investigation.  The Chief Secretary also advised that a check on the system had been conducted after Mr LEUNG's departure from service, and there was no evidence to suggest that he had sought to acquire the list of BNSS beneficiaries.



4.5	On the suggestion that Mr LEUNG had increased the quota of "one-way permits", the Chief Secretary clarified that it was not up to Mr LEUNG alone to make such a  decision.  Although Mr LEUNG had a part to play in giving his opinion on the matter, the final decision was made after relevant departments and authorities, including the Executive Council, had been consulted.

�Response by Mr LEUNG Ming-yin



4.6	In his testimony, Mr LEUNG informed the Committee that he considered the reports in the British newspapers as part of a concerted effort to smear his reputation and he felt an urge to clear his name before the Committee.  He stated that -



(a)	the award of contract for printing the HKSAR passports was entirely the business of the Chinese Government.  Being a civil servant in the Hong Kong Government, it would not be possible for him to interfere.  In fact, during the Sino-British negotiations about the printing of the passports, the Immigration Department had the responsibility to assist the Chinese side, through the Joint Liaison Group, in collecting information to enhance the security features of the new passports.  There was no question of any unauthorized leak of technical expertise;



(b)	as Director of Immigration, he was mainly responsible for policy and administrative matters and had no direct access to individual cases of asylum seekers and BNSS applicants handled by the Immigration Department.  The Immigration Department had a rigorous security system to ensure the security and integrity of sensitive and confidential information.  It was actually impossible for any person, not even the Director of Immigration, to gain unauthorized access to the information without being detected and recorded in the Audit Trail Reports.  There were also sufficient procedural safeguards laid down in the Department's standing instructions to prevent unauthorized retrieval of information;



(c)	the change in the quota of "one-way permits" was a collective decision of the Government which had been approved by the Executive Council; and

�(d)	as Director of Immigration, he had close working relationship with the Chinese officials who were involved in transitional matters.  He had had many contacts, both formal and informal, with his counterparts dealing with immigration matters in the Chinese Government.  He had a practice of keeping the Secretary for Security and other relevant departments informed if he had discussed significant matters with the Chinese side, even on informal occasions.  He did not feel that it was improper for him to have good relations with Chinese officials.  Actually, in the past few years the Hong Kong Government had encouraged its officials to establish more contacts with the Chinese side with a view to expediting the handling of transitional affairs.





The Committee's comments



4.7	The Committee shares the public's concern about the claims made in the newspapers against Mr LEUNG and considers that public interest would have been seriously jeopardized if what was reported were true.  In the course of the inquiry, the Committee has endeavoured to clear the air by questioning the witnesses persistently with the queries raised in different sources.  However, as the Committee is not equipped with the necessary resources or the lawful authority to conduct a thorough investigation into these allegations outside the territory, the Committee is cautious about drawing definitive conclusions on the truth of these claims.

�CHAPTER 5



OBSERVATIONS AND FINDINGS





Political motives



5.1	Noting the public speculation that there might be political motives behind the Government's action against Mr LEUNG, the Committee has requested Mr LEUNG to explain in greater detail why he felt that he was being picked on.  Mr LEUNG has given some examples to demonstrate why he felt that he was being circumvented at work. In addition to other evidence given in camera which the Committee is unable to disclose, Mr LEUNG said that during the last three years of his service in the Immigration Department, he had had great difficulties obtaining additional resources for the Department despite tremendous increase in workload.  By comparison, it appeared to him that the new Director of Immigration was able to have much more staffing resources easily.



5.2	Based on the incidents quoted by Mr LEUNG, the Committee does not find any evidence to suggest that Mr LEUNG's perceived obstacles at work were a deliberate attempt by somebody to find fault with him.



5.3	As mentioned in Chapter 4,  the Committee has grave concern about the claims made in British newspaper reports that Mr LEUNG had committed breach of faith and passed on confidential information to unauthorized parties. In the course of the inquiry, the Committee has devoted much time and effort attempting to find out whether there is any truth in these claims.  In their testimony, the Government officials have steadfastly dismissed all these reports as either unfounded or not supported by evidence.  As the Committee has not been able to conduct a thorough investigation into these claims outside the territory due to the lack of the necessary lawful authority and the resources to do so, the Committee is therefore unable to arrive at a definitive conclusion concerning the truth or otherwise of the claims. 

�5.4	On the basis of the evidence received, the Committee cannot conclude that political motives were involved in the circumstances surrounding Mr LEUNG's departure from the Government, although it is unable to rule out that possibility.





The Government's grounds for contemplating action under Colonial Regulation 59



5.5	In the light of the evidence given at the later stage of the inquiry by the Government officials and Mr LEUNG himself, the Committee is unanimous that Mr LEUNG has not retired voluntarily for personal reasons.  Instead, he has been compelled by the Government to retire.



5.6	The Committee has been advised that the Government's decision to require Mr LEUNG to leave the civil service was made because the Government had lost confidence in Mr LEUNG's integrity, hence his ability to head a disciplined service. In considering the Government's decision, the Committee is of the view that the credibility of the Government relies heavily on the conduct of civil servants whom the public expect to demonstrate a high standard of honesty and integrity.



5.7	In examining the four incidents cited in the SCS’s draft letter to Mr LEUNG, the Committee has given due regard to the fact that Mr LEUNG was not only a head of department, but also the head of a disciplined force.  He was entrusted with a wide range of statutory and law enforcement duties and was responsible for maintaining the conduct and discipline of all the staff in his department.  The seniority and sensitivity of Mr LEUNG's position give all the more reason for demanding from him exemplary honesty and integrity. Having considered the incidents as set out in the SCS's letter, the majority of the Committee agree that Mr LEUNG’s alleged breaches of the Civil Service Regulations, if proved, would have clearly indicated that he has failed to meet the high standard of honesty and integrity expected of him, and it would be entirely reasonable for the Government to take action against Mr LEUNG.  Members of the Committee, except one, take the following view -

�(a)	Mr LEUNG has evidently violated the Terms and Conditions of the Housing Loan Scheme as he did not repay the housing loan to the Government after selling his property acquired under the scheme until the matter was raised during the ICAC investigation. Being the  head of a disciplined force, Mr LEUNG’s failure to honour his obligations and comply with the rule has badly reflected on his self-discipline and hence his ability to enforce rules and regulations in his department.  Members therefore accept that the Government was justified in doubting Mr LEUNG’s suitability to head a disciplined force.  In the course of the inquiry, Mr LEUNG did not show any remorse for his failure to pay back the housing loan soon after he had sold his property.  He told the Committee that he had actually suffered a financial loss as a result of his omission to repay promptly the housing loan.  This apparent attempt to play down the seriousness of his non-compliance reflects Mr LEUNG's attitude towards complying with the Civil Service Regulations.  Members consider that such an attitude is incompatible with the trust that the Government has placed on such a senior officer as Mr LEUNG;

	

(b)	Mr LEUNG has not declared the full details of his investments despite his attention having been drawn specifically to the requirements by the Secretary for Security. This clearly indicates that he has less than adequate respect for the rules which he is expected to comply with.  This attitude is unacceptable because as head of a disciplined force, Mr LEUNG is entrusted with duties to command a law enforcement agency.  He has to comply with all the rules laid down by the Government and has also to ensure that every member of his department complies with such rules.  Members therefore consider that the Government is entitled to have doubt about Mr LEUNG’s ability to discharge his statutory and other duties in a trustworthy manner;

�(c)	notwithstanding Mr LEUNG's explanation that he only represented his family members at meetings of Dragon House Investment Ltd, his involvement clearly indicated an intention to develop business proposals with the Hon LAU Wong-fat. In the course of the inquiry, Mr LEUNG conceded that his business relations with Mr LAU would possibly constitute a potential conflict of interest with his official position.  Under the Civil Service Regulations and relevant Civil Service Branch circulars, it is the responsibility of every Government officer to avoid any conflict of interest between his/her official and private interests, and to report any such possible conflicts. If an officer is in any doubt about whether a particular investment constitutes a conflict of interest, it is expressly provided in the Civil Service Regulations that the onus is on the officer to seek clarification from superior officers.  Mr LEUNG should be well aware that failure to meet these requirements renders an officer liable to disciplinary action or even removal from the civil service. However, he has not complied with these rules.  Members consider Mr LEUNG's failure to observe the above-mentioned rules is of a serious nature;



(d)	Mr LEUNG’s failure to  declare his investment in New Hong Kong China Advertising Limited, a business venture in mainland China, may have constituted a breach of the Civil Service Regulations. Members consider that, given Mr LEUNG's position as the Director of Immigration, his investment in a business venture in mainland China gives cause to suspicion that his official position could be compromised. As in the above case, the onus is on Mr LEUNG to declare this investment to his superior officers so that they can advise him.  Members agree that Mr LEUNG’s attempt to start a business venture in mainland China and his failure to comply with the rules governing the proper conduct of civil servants in this respect, provide sufficient grounds for the consideration of disciplinary action; and

(e)	members consider that each of the four incidents cited in the SCS's draft letter is on its own of a serious nature and warrants consideration of disciplinary action. Given Mr LEUNG’s senior and sensitive position, there is even greater cause for action.  Taking an overall view of all the four incidents, it is reasonable for the Government to take necessary action that would lead to Mr LEUNG's compulsory retirement.



5.8	However, one member of the Committee holds the view that Mr LEUNG's explanation in response to the Government's allegations, as outlined in Chapter 3, is entirely plausible and acceptable.



5.9	The Committee observes that there are provisions in the Civil Service Regulations governing private investments by civil servants and several Civil Service Branch circulars have been issued on the subject.  However, no guideline has been set up for the proper conduct of civil servants in handling private business relations with Members of the Legislative Council and other political figures in Hong Kong or elsewhere.  The Committee considers these matters to be of fundamental importance, and recommends that the Government draw up guidelines for the avoidance of doubt and uncertainty.  Nevertheless, the Committee expects that Government officials, particularly those in senior positions, should at all times exercise proper and sensible judgement in deciding whether certain business relations are appropriate.

�Extended integrity checking report in respect of Mr LEUNG Ming-yin



5.10	In examining the information provided by Government officials on the extended integrity checking report concerning Mr LEUNG, the Committee is mindful of the fact that, in line with the arrangements under the existing extended checking system of which Mr LEUNG should have long been aware, Mr LEUNG has had no knowledge of the findings in the report; nor has he been given a chance to respond to and challenge any specific finding or conclusion in the report. Given that the Committee has only been provided with a summary of the report, it cannot claim to have full knowledge of the findings of the checking or how justifiable its final conclusion was.  Against this background, whilst the integrity checking has had a certain bearing on the Government's overall assessment of Mr LEUNG's integrity, which formed part of the Government’s considerations for requiring his departure from the service, the Committee feels unable to give the checking the same weight as that given by the Government for assessing Mr LEUNG's integrity.



5.11	The majority of the Committee consider that given the Government's view that Mr LEUNG has failed to pass the extended checking conducted by the Police, it is not unreasonable for the Government to have serious doubts about Mr LEUNG's credibility and integrity.  It is therefore also reasonable and logical for the Government to take this into account in drawing its conclusion as to Mr LEUNG's suitability to continue to hold a senior and sensitive position as Director of Immigration.



5.12	However, as Mr LEUNG did not know about, and had no chance to respond to, the findings of the extended checking, one member of the Committee does not agree that the findings of the extended checking should be taken into account by the Government in drawing its conclusion that disciplinary action should be taken against Mr LEUNG.



5.13	The Committee appreciates that it is essential for the extended checking system to be in place to ensure that senior Government officials who have access to highly sensitive and confidential information are of a high standard of integrity.  Hence, the establishment of an extended integrity checking system should be supported in principle.  On the other hand, as the result of an extended checking has a significant bearing on the career of the officer concerned, the Committee recommends that the Government should ensure that there are sufficient checks and balances against unfairness in the system.

�5.14	The Committee understands that it is necessary to protect the sources of information in an extended checking exercise, and the identities of the sources should not be disclosed.  Nevertheless, for the sake of fairness, in those cases in which an officer's failure to pass an extended checking has been taken into account by the Government in reaching its decision on an officer's civil service career, the Committee recommends that the Government should inform the officer concerned of the fact that he/she has not passed the extended checking.





Mr LEUNG Ming-yin's reasons for choosing to "retire voluntarily"



5.15	In the light of the SCS's admission that, at his meeting with Mr LEUNG on 5 July 1996, he did not give Mr LEUNG the reasons for the Government's decision to require him to retire, the majority of the Committee question why Mr LEUNG was willing to choose to submit his application to retire.  Mr LEUNG told the Committee that he decided to comply with the Government’s request because he wanted to avoid damaging the  morale of the Immigration Department and he felt frustrated, helpless and incapable of fighting against the whole Government if he was to face proceedings under CR 59.  However, most members are not convinced that these reasons adequately accounted for Mr LEUNG's decision at the time.



5.16	The majority of the Committee consider that in the ordinary course of events, an employee would not have yielded to what Mr LEUNG himself perceives as an unfair and unjustified act on the part of his employer, particularly when Mr LEUNG is occupying a senior position.  If an employee feels aggrieved when told to retire immediately, he would have demanded detailed explanation from his employer, not to mention challenging the decision openly.  The Committee is aware that the SCS had informed Mr LEUNG that if he chose to face the CR 59 proceedings, he would be given the grounds for the Government's contemplated action and he would also have an opportunity to make representations.  As Mr LEUNG would not suffer any financial loss in taking either course of action, it stands to reason that if Mr LEUNG considered himself innocent, he would have refuted the Government's position and, out of the two options offered by the Government, he would have elected to face the CR 59 proceedings.  In the circumstances, Mr LEUNG's submission of his retirement application without knowing the reasons for the Government's action leads the  majority of the Committee to remain in doubt as to why he has chosen not to avail himself of the opportunity to make representations under CR 59.

�5.17	However, one  member of the Committee sympathizes with Mr LEUNG's feeling of frustration and helplessness in fighting the whole Government if he was to face proceedings under CR 59.  The member therefore considers Mr LEUNG's decision as reasonable and understandable in the circumstances.







Mr LEUNG Ming-yin's standard in dealing with business relations



5.18	Through conducting the hearings with Mr LEUNG, the Committee has been able to get an understanding of the standard of conduct which Mr LEUNG sets for himself as a senior civil servant.  As the inquiry has revealed that Mr LEUNG has been involved in a number of business ventures, the Committee therefore focuses on the degree of care with which he develops commercial relationships and on whether he has taken steps to avoid potential conflicts of interest between his official position and his private investments.  In reply to members' questions, Mr LEUNG said that in deciding whether he should invest in a business proposal, he would take into account the nature of the business in question and assess if it would constitute a conflict of interest with his official duties as the Director of Immigration.  In his testimony, Mr LEUNG conceded that businesses which did not have apparent conflict of interest with his duties might have potential conflict, and argued that any circumstance might give rise to a potential conflict of interest.  He felt that the crucial point was whether he could withstand the pressure when somebody tried to seek favour from him.  Mr LEUNG also emphasized that he would only enter into a lawful business which would not be regarded as undesirable by the community.  For example, he would not operate a mahjong school.

�5.19	As regards the steps he would take to find out the background of other participants in a business proposal which he was about to join, Mr LEUNG said that it was impossible for him to conduct thorough checks on each and every participant before deciding to enter into a business venture.  He stressed that it was his practice to join a business venture only if he had known for years the person who invited him to join, had full knowledge of the person's background and considered that person to be trustworthy.  As for the other participants whom he did not know, he would ask the friend who invited him to join about their identity and background.  He would be content if the friend said that they were all decent people.  Mr LEUNG further told the Committee that he would try to find out more about his business partners if the amount of investment was large.  However, in situations where the amount of investment was insignificant, he did not find it necessary to have knowledge of everybody involved.  Mr LEUNG also emphasized that he would not develop business ties with people who were known to be triad members because he was mindful of what other people might think about his association.  Yet, Mr LEUNG stated that he had no means to ascertain beyond doubt whether his friends were of absolutely clean background.



5.20	In answer to the question on whether he had any worry that he might put himself in a vulnerable position if he developed business links with people he did not know, Mr LEUNG said that it was unavoidable that some people might try to take advantage of his senior position in the Government by claiming to have good relations with him.  He regarded that as an "occupational hazard" faced by all senior civil servants.

�5.21	The Committee observes that Mr LEUNG has not set for himself a high standard in dealing with business relations. On the basis of Mr LEUNG's testimony, it appears to most members that he does not, as a matter of practice, try to find out who the  participants are in a business project which he intends to join.  The fact that Mr LEUNG claims that senior Government officials are exposed to the "occupational hazard" he has referred to gives all the more reason for civil servants to exercise a high degree of care, caution and prudence to avoid putting themselves in a position in which their integrity might be called into question.  Given the senior status and sensitivity of Mr LEUNG's position as Director of Immigration, the majority of the Committee find that the criteria set by Mr LEUNG in developing business ties fall far short of public expectation.



5.22	The Committee further notes that in Mr LEUNG's defence against the allegations made in the SCS's draft letter proposing to take CR 59 actions, he has not disputed the facts cited by the Government but rather put forward reasons to argue that his non-compliance was largely a matter of inadvertence.  In most members' view, Mr LEUNG has not made positive efforts to comply with the Civil Service Regulations.



5.23	However, two members of the Committee consider that, in real life, it may not be easy for any person to ascertain whether his/her business associates and acquaintances are of absolutely clean background and, in the view of one of these members, Mr LEUNG's private business relations were not in any way conducted in any unusual manner.





Propriety of the Government's action



5.24	In the light of the evidence that Mr LEUNG had breached the Civil Service Regulations and that Mr LEUNG was not given extended clearance status, the majority of the Committee consider it  understandable and reasonable for the Government to doubt the character and integrity of Mr LEUNG and  to have lost confidence in his integrity and suitability to remain in the post of Director of Immigration.  From this perspective, most members regard the Government's decision to require Mr LEUNG to depart from the service as reasonable in the circumstances.

�5.25	In considering whether the reasons which led to the Government’s decision are sufficiently compelling to warrant the immediate departure of Mr LEUNG, the Committee has taken into account the Government officials' testimony that, from the Government's perspective, allowing a senior officer whom it no longer trusts to remain in charge of an important disciplined service may have serious consequences.  In her testimony, the Chief Secretary maintained that to require Mr LEUNG to leave his post immediately was entirely reasonable, as it would not have been prudent to allow Mr LEUNG to remain in charge of sensitive issues and systems whilst serving his period of notice, however short.  She said that even if Mr LEUNG had chosen to face CR 59 proceedings, the Government would have ordered that Mr LEUNG be interdicted while the proceedings were going on.



5.26	The majority of the Committee consider the Government's decision to require Mr LEUNG to depart from the service immediately understandable.  Nevertheless, as stated in paragraph 5.10 above, the Committee does  not have full knowledge of the findings of  the extended checking conducted on Mr LEUNG.  Based on the limited information that the Government has been prepared to provide to the Committee, most members do not consider themselves to be in a position to conclude that there are clear and compelling reasons for the immediate departure of Mr LEUNG.



5.27	Two members of the Committee are of the view that, based on the evidence provided to the Committee, there are sufficient grounds for the Government to require Mr LEUNG to depart immediately.



5.28	Another member of the Committee, however, considers that the Government, in finalizing its conclusions, has given a great deal of weight to the subjective findings in the extended checking report, which is unfair to Mr LEUNG.  The member maintains that, based on the evidence provided to the Committee, the Government’s grounds for requiring Mr LEUNG’s departure, whether immediate or not, is not justifiable.

�5.29 	The Committee has also deliberated the way in which the Government executed  its action against Mr LEUNG on the morning of 5 July 1996.  The SCS has admitted that he had not provided Mr LEUNG with the reasons when giving him the choice  between either to retire voluntarily or to face proceedings under CR 59.  Mr LEUNG said that in  response  to his request for the reasons for the Government’s decision, the only reply given by the SCS was that “you ought to know the reasons”. The SCS explained  that he could not allow Mr LEUNG to weigh up the evidence the Government might or might not have against him before making a decision as to whether he should retire voluntarily or face  proceedings under CR 59.



5.30	In the Committee's view, an open and fair Government  should have given Mr LEUNG a full account of the grounds for its proposed actions when notifying him of its decision to require him to leave the service immediately and when asking him to make an important decision which might bring an abrupt end to his career.  In deliberately withholding the reasons from Mr LEUNG, the Government's aim was clearly to put pressure on Mr LEUNG to opt for voluntary retirement.  The Committee is unanimous that this approach was high-handed, fell short of the proper conduct expected of an open and fair Government and is to be deplored.





The Government's accountability to the Legislative Council



5.31	Given that the Government's decision to require Mr LEUNG to leave was reasonable, the Committee deeply regrets that, in their appearances before the Legislative Council's Panel on Public Service and the Select Committee, Government officials had tailored their evidence and consciously withheld material information in the attempt to mislead the Legislative Council and the public into accepting an account of Mr LEUNG's departure from government service, which they knew to be untrue.

�5.32	At the early stage following the announcement of Mr LEUNG's retirement, the Government depicted the departure of Mr LEUNG as a normal and voluntary retirement permissible under the Civil Service Regulations.  The SCS claimed that Mr LEUNG had taken the initiative to apply for immediate retirement for personal reasons.  The press statement issued by the Government on 6 July 1996 stated that "... approval has been given to the Director of Immigration, Mr Laurence LEUNG Ming-yin, to retire from the civil service for personal reason".  In his appearance before the Legislative Council Panel on Public Service on 11 July 1996, the SCS said that "... the Administration, after considering the personal reasons put forward by Mr Laurence LEUNG for retirement and waiver of the 12-month notice period, had decided to accept his application".



5.33	Later, at the earlier stage of the inquiry, the SCS claimed that because Mr LEUNG had retired for personal reasons, matters relating to his departure would fall within the ambit of his personal circumstances and had to be kept confidential.  The SCS made reference to the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance in support of the claim.  The Committee considers that, by emphasizing the confidentiality of personal data, the Government was trying to distract the Committee from finding out the real reasons for the Government's action to require Mr LEUNG to depart from service.



5.34	The Committee also finds that the SCS had intentionally endeavoured to lead the Committee into believing that Mr LEUNG's case was a routine application for retirement and waiver of retirement notice.  For example, in his testimony the SCS pointed out that Mr LEUNG had already reached the normal retirement age of 55 after serving for 31 years in the civil service, and that since 1 April 1994, 30 officers including Mr LEUNG had been allowed to leave the service with less than 12 months' notice for personal reasons.  In fact, the matter was far from routine, and certainly not initiated by Mr LEUNG.



5.35	The following are further examples of the deliberately misleading replies given by the SCS to the pertinent questions raised by the Committee and the Legislative Council Panel on Public Service -

�(a)	in reply to the question whether he had, at the meeting on 5 July 1996, hinted or requested Mr LEUNG to retire, the SCS said that when he "agreed to meet a civil servant to discuss his personal circumstances", what passed between himself and the officer had to and should remain confidential.  Taking into account the evidence received at that stage, the only reasonable inference that could be drawn from such a reply was that it was Mr LEUNG who had initiated the meeting, and what was discussed were the reasons Mr LEUNG offered for retirement without the required notice;



(b)	in answer to the question whether Mr LEUNG's letter applying for retirement and the SCS's letter of approval were confirmation of the state of play at the conclusion of the meeting on 5 July 1996, the SCS said that he "only knew of Mr LEUNG's application to retire when he received Mr LEUNG's letter in the afternoon of 5 July 1996".  As it is now agreed that the SCS had offered Mr LEUNG the choice between submitting a retirement application and being forced to retire under CR 59, the Committee considers that the statement, although technically correct, was deliberately misleading as an answer to the question;



(c)	in response to the question whether the Government had contemplated dismissing Mr LEUNG but subsequently decided to require him to apply for retirement, the SCS gave a definite negative answer.  In the light of what was later revealed, the SCS was clearly taking advantage of the difference between compulsory retirement and dismissal in his reply;

�(d)	in reply to the question whether the situation in which an officer was asked to retire, because he had failed in his duty or had committed some wrong, would fall within the ambit of personal circumstances which supposedly had to be kept confidential, the SCS emphasized that it was Mr LEUNG who, for personal reasons, had applied for retirement and waiver of the notice period.  The Committee considers that this reply reflects the SCS's attempt to mislead the Committee into believing that Mr LEUNG took the initiative to retire, which is in fact not true; 





(e)	in answer to the question whether, other than Mr LEUNG's application for retirement and the SCS's letter of approval, there were documents in other Government branches or departments which were related to Mr LEUNG's departure, the SCS stated that he was not aware of any other documents outside the Civil Service Branch.  Given that the SCS had read the ICAC letter and the integrity checking report on Mr LEUNG, and had in his hands the draft letter setting out the grounds for the impending CR 59 action, the Committee considers that the SCS has withheld material information; and

�(f)	in response to the questions raised by the Legislative Council Panel on Public Service on 11 July 1996, the SCS cited in Chinese the saying �symbol 151 \f "Colonna MT" \s 13�� "When it rains, it does; if Mom wants to re-marry, she will"( ¤Ñ­n¤U«B¡A®Q­n¶ù¤H ), clearly intending to reinforce his depiction that the Government had only played a passive role in Mr LEUNG's case because Mr LEUNG had the right to retire.  In reply to questions from the media about the reason for Mr LEUNG's abrupt retirement, the SCS was reported as saying that "I (the SCS) am concerned about many things, such as whom LIN Ching-hsia1 was married to and why someone in Shanghai says LEE San-san2 is ugly.  But that does not mean I have to ask LEE San-san to tell me why other people say she was ugly".  The Committee considers that this analogy aims at suggesting that the concern of the public and the media about Mr LEUNG's case had been driven by curiosity and by the urge to peep into the private life of Mr LEUNG.  The SCS was asked to explain these replies by the Committee but could give no satisfactory explanation.  The Committee finds the SCS's remarks unacceptable, not only because they were misleading, but also because they reflected a frivolous attitude in response to the proper concern of the Legislative Council and the public.





5.36	Apart from the SCS, the Financial Secretary (then Acting Chief Secretary) and the Secretary for Security all spoke along the line that Mr LEUNG voluntarily retired for personal reasons.  The Financial Secretary informed the Committee in writing that, when the SCS reported Mr LEUNG's case to him on 5 July 1996, the SCS had told him the personal reasons.  The Secretary for Security said that there was a personal reason for Mr LEUNG to retire.  He also stressed that he respected Mr LEUNG's decision to retire for personal reasons.

�5.37	The Committee has noted the Chief Secretary's testimony that the Governor had been kept fully in the picture over Mr LEUNG's case.  The Governor had also been quoted in a newspaper report as telling the media that "Mr LEUNG retired for personal reasons and as far as I am concerned, personal reasons are personal reasons".  The Governor's remarks reinforced the untruthful claims made by other Government officials.  The Committee is unanimous that there has been a concerted effort by the Government as a whole to attempt to mislead the Legislative Council.   



5.38	In his defence for having told the Committee that Mr LEUNG retired for personal reasons, the SCS stated that he had told Mr LEUNG at their meeting on the morning of 5 July 1996 that should Mr LEUNG choose to retire voluntarily, he would regard Mr LEUNG's retirement as a personal matter between Mr LEUNG himself and the Government.  As Mr LEUNG had not set out in his letter any reasons for applying for retirement, the SCS assumed that Mr LEUNG had given tacit agreement to the proposed reason of retiring for personal reasons.  When the SCS was questioned by the Committee after Mr LEUNG had denied the existence of any personal reasons, the SCS maintained that Mr LEUNG must have his own personal reasons for choosing not to face the CR 59 proceedings.  Nevertheless, the SCS offered apology and said that, in trying to answer the Committee's questions while upholding the confidentiality of the discussion between himself and Mr LEUNG, he had interpreted narrowly some of the questions put to him by the Committee and provided "technical" replies, which might be regarded as misleading.



5.39	With respect to his failure to produce all documents related to the departure of Mr LEUNG, the SCS said that as Mr LEUNG had chosen to retire voluntarily and as the CR 59 proceedings had not been initiated,  his draft letter for initiating the CR 59 proceedings was therefore not regarded as related to Mr LEUNG's departure.

�5.40	The Chief Secretary, in her testimony to the Committee, stressed that the Government had not lied nor sought to mislead the Committee.  She explained that all officers appearing before the Committee had tried to answer questions put to them as honestly as they could, within the constraints that matters discussed between an officer and the SCS regarding personal and employment matters should remain confidential and not be divulged publicly without the concerned officer's consent to disclosure.  According to the Chief Secretary, strict adherence to this rule of confidentiality was crucial for the good management of the civil service.  However, after Mr LEUNG had revealed the substance of his meeting with the SCS on 5 July 1996, and by doing so waived the implied confidentiality of the meeting, the SCS had subsequently set out clearly the reasons for contemplating action under CR 59 against Mr LEUNG.



5.41	The Committee accepts that the Government's motive was out of public interest reasons, and not for the purpose of concealing misconduct.  Nevertheless, the Government's duty to be accountable to the Legislative Council and the community at large for its policies and actions is paramount.  It is incumbent upon Government officials to give a full and frank disclosure when giving evidence to the Committee under oath.  The Committee is disappointed that Government officials have been unco-operative and have resorted to giving carefully tailored evidence to frustrate the Committee's investigative efforts.  These manoeuvres have heightened speculation about the real reasons for the action proposed against Mr LEUNG.  The eventual revelation, in a tortuous way, of more of the actual circumstances has brought the Government into disrepute, seriously undermined its credibility and damaged the trust between the Administration and the Legislative Council.



5.42	In making these remarks, the Committee does not lose sight of the fact that the Government is justified in taking the action leading to the departure of Mr LEUNG from the civil service.  The Committee has no doubt that as a senior official in a highly sensitive position Mr LEUNG's attitude and conduct were such that he should not have been allowed to remain.  The Committee also notes the reasons for the constraints the Government officials have imposed on themselves, hence their reluctance to reveal the true reasons for Mr LEUNG's departure.  It is the Government's avowed principle that the Executive should be accountable to the Legislature.  The Committee urges the Government, in the light of its experience in this incident, to make positive efforts to uphold this principle in its future dealings with the Legislative Council.
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		Mr Ray CHAN, Assistant Secretary General 3







I.	Consideration of the Committee report

	(LegCo Paper No. CB(3) 1105/96-97)



	The Chairman stated that the revised version of Chapter 5 of the draft Committee report, incorporating members' comments made at the last meeting, had been circularized to members vide LegCo Paper No. CB(3) 1105/96-97 dated 31 May 1997.  He further informed members that the full text of the English and Chinese versions of the draft report were tabled at the meeting.



2.	Amendments proposed by Miss Margaret NG to Chapter 5 of the draft report were tabled at the meeting. These amendments were considered and, with some amendments, were agreed to.

3.	In accordance with Standing Order No. 62(7), the question that both the English and Chinese versions of the draft report tabled at the meeting, as amended, be adopted as the Chairman's report and be read a second time paragraph by paragraph, was proposed, put and agreed to.



4.	Paragraphs 1.1 to 1.11 read and agreed to.



5.	Paragraphs 2.1 to 2.52 read and agreed to.



6.	Paragraphs 3.1 to 3.17 read and agreed to.



7.	Paragraphs 4.1 to 4.7 read and agreed to.



8.	Paragraphs 5.1 to 5.7 read and agreed to.



9.	Paragraph 5.8 read and agreed to.  Mrs Elizabeth WONG requested to put on record of this meeting that, apart from the view of the member mentioned in paragraph 5.8, her view was that "Mr LEUNG'S explanation in response to the Government's allegations, as outlined in Chapter 3, is plausible".



10.	Paragraphs 5.9 to 5.22 read and agreed to.



11.	Paragraphs 5.23 to 5.24 read, amended and agreed to.



12.	Paragraphs 5.25 to 5.42 read and agreed to.



13.	Mr James TO proposed the inclusion in the report of his view that individual Government witnesses had lied when giving evidence to the Committee under oath, hence these witnesses should be severely censured.  The proposal was proposed and put to the Committee.  Except Mr TO, all the other members present disagreed.  The Chairman declared that the proposal was not agreed.



14.	Appendices I to VI read and agreed to.



15.	In regard to Volume II of the report, the Committee agreed to include the verbatim transcripts of the public hearings; the summary of proceedings of the closed hearings; and the evidence received by the Committee as the minutes of evidence.



16.	Question that the draft report, as amended, be adopted as the report of the Committee to the Council, proposed, put and agreed to.



17.	The Committee authorized the Clerk to modify the Chinese version of the report in accordance with the amendments made to the English version.



18.	Members thanked the Legal Adviser, Assistant Secretary General 3 and the Clerk for assisting the Committee in conducting the inquiry.



19.	The meeting ended at 10:35 am.









Legislative Council Secretariat

2 June 1997



�Appendix I



LEGISLATIVE COUNCIL (POWERS AND PRIVILEGES) ORDINANCE



������

��RESOLUTION��

(For the purposes of section 15 of the 

Legislative Council (Powers and Privileges) Ordinance (Cap. 382)) ��



�

���





��		RESOLVED that with effect from 25 May 1994 the usage and practice in regard to the determination of claims of "public interest privilege" made by persons appearing before a committee of the Council shall be as set out in the Schedule annexed to this Resolution.

�Schedule



1.	In this Schedule -



	"relevant body", (¦³Ãö¤è­±) in relation to a committee before which a witness is attending to give evidence or to produce any paper, book, record or document, means �



	(a)	the chairman and deputy chairman of the committee, where both are present (and references to the delivering of the opinion of the relevant body shall be taken to mean the opinion of the chairman where the chairman and deputy chairman disagree);



	(b)	the chairman alone where the deputy chairman is absent;



	(c)	the deputy chairman alone where the chairman is absent; or



	(d) 	where both the chairman and deputy chairman are absent, the member elected to act as chairman during such absence.



"witness" (ÃÒ¤H) means -



	(a)	a person lawfully ordered to attend to give evidence or to produce any paper, book, record or document before a committee; and



	(b)	any public officer designated by the Governor under section 8A (2)(b) of the Legislative Council (Powers and Privileges) Ordinance (Cap. 382) for the purpose of attending sittings of a committee.



2.	If, at a public sitting of a committee, a witness refuses to answer publicly or privately any question that may be put to him, or to produce any paper, book, record or document, and claims privilege on the ground that the giving of the answer or the production of the paper, book, record or document would be contrary to the public interest the following procedure will apply -



	(1)	The chairman shall inform the witness that he may explain his reasons in confidence to the relevant body and that the relevant body will then deliver an opinion to the committee without disclosure of any information or paper, book, record or document claimed by the witness to be privileged from disclosure.



	(2)	If the witness agrees to explain his reasons to the relevant body the relevant body shall make arrangements to consider the reasons and deliver its opinion to the committee.



	(3)	If the relevant body delivers its opinion that the claim of privilege by the witness is justified in respect of any answer to a question or the production of any paper, book, record or document the committee shall excuse the answering of such question or the production of such paper, book, record or document.



	(4)	If the relevant body delivers its opinion that the claim of privilege by the witness is not justified in respect of any answer to a question or the production of any paper, book, record or document the committee may order the answering or production thereof.



	(5)	If the witness continues to refuse to answer any question or produce any paper, book, record or document the committee may take such action within its powers as it considers appropriate.



	(6)	If the witness does not agree to explain his reasons to the relevant body under subparagraph (2) the committee may take such action within its powers as it considers appropriate.



3.	If, at a public sitting of a committee, a witness refuses to answer in public any question that may be put to him, or to produce in public any paper, book, record or document on the ground of public interest privilege, but requests to answer such question or produce such paper, book, record or document at a private sitting of the committee, the following procedure will apply -



	(1)	The committee will deliberate in private whether to agree to the request by the witness.



	(2)	The decision of the committee will be taken by formal vote.



	(3)	If the committee decides to agree to the request by the witness no answer given by the witness at a private sitting nor any paper, book, record or document produced by him thereat shall be made public unless the committee decides during the private sitting that the request by the witness for confidentiality is not justified.  Before reaching such a decision the committee shall give the witness an opportunity to state the grounds upon which he claims public interest privilege in respect of the particular answer or paper, book, record or document.



Appendix II





List of witnesses who gave evidence at the Committee's hearings 

(in order of appearance)





1.�22 November 1996�:�Mr LAM Woon-kwong, JP

  Secretary for the Civil Service

��2.�5 December 1996�:�Ms Eda CHAN Yee-ting

  Personal Assistant to Secretary for the Civil

  Service



Mr Christopher LEE Ka-keung

  Deputy Director of Immigration



Mrs Regina IP LAU Suk-yee, JP

  Director of Immigration



The Hon Donald TSANG Yam-kuen, OBE, JP

  Financial Secretary



Mr Peter LAI Hing-ling, JP

  Secretary for Security

��3.�12 December 1996�:�Ms Sandra LEE, JP

  Deputy Secretary for the Civil Service



Mr Peter LAI Hing-ling, JP

  Secretary for Security



The Hon Donald TSANG Yam-kuen, OBE, JP

  Financial Secretary

��4.�10 January 1997�:�Mr Laurence LEUNG Ming-yin, OBE, JP

��5.�15 January 1997�:�Mr LAM Woon-kwong, JP

  Secretary for the Civil Service









��6.�22 January 1997�:�Mr LAM Woon-kwong, JP

  Secretary for the Civil Service



The Hon Mrs Anson CHAN, CBE, JP

  Chief Secretary

��7.�28 January 1997�:�Mr Peter LAI Hing-ling, JP

  Secretary for Security

��8.�29 January 1997�:�Mr LAM Woon-kwong, JP

  Secretary for the Civil Service

��9.�21 February 1997�:�Mr TSANG Yam-pui, QPM, CPM

  Deputy Commissioner of Police



The Hon Mrs Anson CHAN, CBE, JP

  Chief Secretary



��10.�28 February 1997�:�Mr Laurence LEUNG Ming-yin, OBE, JP

��11.�11 March 1997�:�Mr Laurence LEUNG Ming-yin, OBE, JP

��12.�24 April 1997�:�The Hon Mrs Anson CHAN, CBE, JP

  Chief Secretary

��13.�9 May 1997�:�The Hon Mrs Anson CHAN, CBE, JP

  Chief Secretary

��

Appendix III



Ref: CB(3)/SE/L/1/1







Select Committee to Inquire into the 

Circumstances Surrounding the Departure of 

Mr LEUNG Ming-yin from the Government and Related Issues



Public hearing on 5 December 1996



Opinion of the Chairman on 

Ms Eda CHAN's claim of public interest immunity





	In the course of the Committee's hearing held on 5 December 1996, �Mr CHEUNG Man-kwong asked the witness, Ms Eda CHAN (Personal Assistant to the Secretary for the Civil Service (SCS)), whether the meeting between SCS and Mr LEUNG Ming-yin on the morning of 5 July 1996 was arranged by Ms CHAN under the instruction of SCS.  Ms CHAN refused to answer the question on the ground of public interest immunity but agreed to  explain her reasons to me in confidence.



2.	Having considered the explanation put forward by Ms CHAN, I was of the opinion that her reasons were justified and therefore excused her from answering the question.  My opinion is based on the following consideration -



(a)	although Mr CHEUNG's question is relevant to the subject of the inquiry, it is not within the competence of Ms CHAN to answer the question as she cannot be expected to justify the stance of the Government on the issue in view of her position;



(b)	as Ms CHAN is the Personal Assistant to SCS, she has a duty to keep all matters relating to SCS's duties confidential.  Requesting a personal assistant to breach confidentiality may not be in the public interest; and



(c)	there are other channels through which the Committee can obtain the information sought by Mr CHEUNG's question, such as by putting the question to SCS direct.

�3.	I also emphasized at the hearing that the my opinion in respect of Ms CHAN's claim cannot be taken as a precedent in future hearings in the event of other witnesses refusing to answer questions which intend to seek similar information to that sought by  Mr CHEUNG's question.





����(IP Kwok-him)

Chairman

Select Committee to Inquire into the Circumstances Surrounding the Departure of Mr LEUNG Ming-yin from the Government and Related Issues��



















9 December 1996







Appendix V 



CHAIRMAN’S  OPINION



(Delivered under paragraph 2 of the Schedule to the Legislative Council Resolution passed on 25 May 1994, as amended)







	This sitting was adjourned from the sitting of the Committee held on 24 April 1997.  At that sitting, the Chief Secretary, Mrs Anson Chan, was ordered under the Legislative Council (Powers and Privileges) Ordinance to attend before this Committee to produce a copy of the ICAC Report to the Operations Review Committee (ORC Report) which was one of the enclosures to the Commissioner of ICAC’s letter to the Chief Secretary dated 8 May 1996.



2.	At the last open sitting of the Committee I have given a brief account of the relevant events leading to the issue of summons to Mrs Chan on 17 April 1997 ordering her to produce the ORC Report on 24 April 1997.  Today, I propose to set out those events in greater detail.



3.	At the public hearing held on 22 January 1997 the Chief Secretary confirmed that she had the ORC Report which was one of the enclosures to the Commissioner of ICAC’s letter dated 8 May 1996.  The letter and its enclosures, but without the ORC Report, were shown to the Committee in camera on that day.  By a letter dated 1 February 1997, the Committee wrote to the Chief Secretary requesting her to produce the ORC Report.  By a letter dated 21 February 1997 the Chief Secretary explained why in her view the production of the ORC Report to the Committee, even in camera, would adversely affect the operations of the ORC and would not therefore be in the public interest.  The content of this letter was read out by the Chief Secretary at the public hearing of the Committee held on the same day.   



4.	Following the hearing on 21 February 1997, the Committee wrote to the Chief Secretary on 11 March 1997 stating that it was of the view that it should not be deprived of any substantive material upon which the Government had relied to reach a decision to initiate CR59 action against Mr Leung Ming-yin.  The Committee put to the Chief Secretary that it had decided that if the Chairman could be given access to the ORC Report and were able to advise the Committee that no material information upon which the Government’s decision was ultimately based had been omitted from the information supplied to the Committee, the Committee would proceed no further on the issue of production of the ORC Report.  





5.	By a letter dated 12 April 1997 from the Civil Service Branch, the Committee was informed that the Chief Secretary, having further consulted the Commissioner of ICAC and having taken legal advice, remained of the view that it would not be in the public interest to disclose the ORC Report to the Committee.  She also did not consider it appropriate to disclose the Report to the Chairman even for the limited purpose proposed by the Committee.  It was stated in that letter that in reaching her decision, the Chief Secretary had taken into consideration that apart from the names of various persons, referred to in the interviews with Mr Leung, the ORC Report contains nothing of a factual nature which has not already been disclosed to the Committee.  Disclosure to either the Committee or the Chairman was not therefore necessary to enable the Committee fairly to examine the circumstances of Mr Leung’s departure or any other directly related matter.  



6.	Following receipt of the letter of 12 April, 1997, the Committee decided at its meeting on 15 April 1997 that the Chief Secretary be summoned to produce the ORC Report at the hearing of the Committee to be held on 24 April 1997.  At the hearing on 24 April 1997, the Chief Secretary was told of the options that were available to her in answer to the summons.  These options include production of the ORC Report to me or the Committee in camera and in order to ensure that no information obtained in camera by the Committee would go into the report of the Committee, the Chief Secretary be provided with a draft of it before its publication.  In response to that, the Chief Secretary read out a prepared statement explaining why she considered production of the ORC Report to the Committee or any member of the Committee, even in camera, to be contrary to the public interest.  In order to save time this morning, I am not going to read out in full that statement.  Members have got a copy of that statement which they may wish to refer to later.  The Chief Secretary also produced a document entitled “Chief Secretary Certificate” which she said was to facilitate further enquiries on the part of this Committee.  Again, Members will have a copy of that document and I am not going to repeat its contents here.



7.	Following the Chief Secretary’s statement and in answer to members’ questions, the Chief Secretary said she was somewhat unhappy at the inference that her word could not be relied upon when she stated that the Government had already produced all relevant material that was in their view relevant to this enquiry into the retirement of Mr Leung Ming-yin. The Chief Secretary repeated twice in specific terms that even to produce the ORC Report to me as the chairman of the Committee would still not be in the public interest.  She said she had considered every possible means whereby she could produce a copy of the ORC Report to this Committee, but she had nevertheless arrived at a decision that it would not be in the public interest to disclose that Report.













8.	Some of the observations made by members in the course of putting questions to the Chief Secretary are also relevant for my consideration for the purpose of forming an opinion on whether the claim for public interest immunity is justified.  One of the members said, “the reason for our [the Committee’s] insistence in trying to get the ORC Report arises from the entire history of this Select Committee’s work” and “the history of this Select Committee demands that we just try to get to the bottom of the available information”.  In my judgment, this is the view held by the Committee.



9.	In the light of the Chief Secretary’s opening statement, her answers to further questions put to her and her last statement that “Having determined that the ORC Report is a document to which public interest immunity attaches, I reiterate that I regret I am precluded from complying with the order to produce the report to you or to any member of the Select Committee”,  a question has arisen in regard to the right or privilege of the Chief Secretary to refuse to produce the ORC Report before the Committee.  Under section 15 of the Legislative Council (Powers and Privileges) Ordinance that question may, subject to the Ordinance and except in so far as express provision is made therein for the determination of that question, be determined in accordance with the usage and practice of the Legislative Council which applied prior to the commencement of this Ordinance, that is 26 July 1985, or applies thereafter by virtue of any resolution of the Legislative Council.  A resolution of the Legislative Council was passed on 25 May 1994 providing for the procedure that should follow for such determination.  This Resolution was amended on 20 November 1996 to empower the chairman of a select committee, where there is no deputy chairman, to determine whether a claim of public interest immunity is justified and should be allowed.  A further amendment was made to the Resolution on 16 April this year on some technical aspects which do not affect the position of the chairman of a select committee.  Under the Resolution as amended, if a witness refuses to produce any paper etc. and claims privilege on the ground that its production would be contrary to the public interest-



	a) 	the witness may explain his reasons in confidence to the chairman who shall consider them and deliver his opinion to the committee;



	b) 	if the chairman delivers his opinion that the claim of privilege is not justified, the committee may order the witness to produce the paper etc.; and



	c) 	if the witness continues to refuse to produce the paper, the committee may take such action within its powers as it considers appropriate.



�10.	Under the statutory procedures noted above, I am the sole authority and final arbiter charged with the duty to form an opinion as to whether the claim of privilege by the Chief Secretary that production of the ORC Report would be contrary to public interest is justified.  Despite the fact that I am the chairman of the select committee making the order for the production of the ORC Report, my role as chairman especially when making a determination under the Resolution is that of an impartial arbiter acting in a judicious manner.



11.	Lord Lester QC has provided me with a written opinion.  I also have the service of the Legal Adviser to the Committee who has provided me with legal advice whenever necessary.



12.	I have, through the Clerk of the Committee, indicated to the Chief Secretary’s office that if she wished to have sight of Lord Lester QC’s opinion before I make the determination today she would be welcome to have it.  However, the Chief Secretary’s Office has said it was not necessary.



13.	At the hearing on 24 April 1997, after making a formal claim of privilege the Chief Secretary decided to explain her reasons in confidence to me.  Her reasons were no more than what she had already said to the Committee.  What she made clear was that she was not prepared to produce the Report to me as chairman of the Committee under the Resolution procedures.  This is an important consideration which I will come back to later on.



Merits of Public Interest Immunity Claim



14.	In his written opinion, Lord Lester QC referred to the latest development in legal principles which apply in the area of the law relating to claims of public interest immunity with an analysis of the relevance of those principles to the present case. 



15.	I have also been advised by the Legal Adviser that I am not bound by the advice I have received from any of my legal advisers.  The determination made pursuant to section 15 and the Resolution is mine and mine alone.  When making that determination I should take into account all relevant considerations and comply with all the procedures prescribed by law in a manner which is fair to all parties concerned.



16.	For the purpose of making the determination, I should first of all satisfy myself that the ORC Report would contain information relevant to the inquiry of the Committee.  The purpose of seeking production of the ORC Report is to ensure that all factual information contained in it has been provided to the Committee by the Government.  What the Chief Secretary has said is that the disclosure of the ORC Report is not necessary to enable the Committee fairly to examine the circumstances of Mr Leung Ming-yin’s departure or any directly-related issues.  She did not suggest that the ORC Report is not relevant to the proceedings of the inquiry.  On the other hand, the Committee has made clear its purpose for seeking the production of the Report.  I do not consider that there is any doubt about the relevance of the ORC Report to the proceedings of the inquiry.



17.	Having satisfied myself that the ORC Report is relevant to the Committee’s proceedings, in determining whether the claim of public interest immunity is justified I should perform a balancing exercise weighing the different aspects of the public interest involved.  Lord Lester QC has suggested that the two aspects of the public interest that need to be weighed are-



	a)	the protection of the integrity and effectiveness of the ICAC investigative process; and



	b)	the protection of the integrity and effectiveness of the Committee’s investigative process.



18.	Lord Lester QC has also advised that there is need to consider each aspect of the public interest fairly in forming my opinion as to whether the Chief Secretary’s claim is justified in the circumstances which have arisen in the course of the Committee’s inquiry.



19.	It think it is convenient at this point to remind members that the Chief Secretary did not produce the ORC Report to me under the Legislative Council Resolution procedures.  This, in my view, confirms that the Chief Secretary is making a class claim for all ORC Reports.  Lord Lester QC also arrived at the same conclusion based on his analysis of the relevant facts.  The practical effect of this is that I am only able to rely on the reasons which the Chief Secretary has told me to form the necessary opinion without the opportunity to look at the content of the Report.  I should also point out that, although section 14(1) of the Legislative Council (Powers and Privileges) Ordinance gives a witness the same right or privilege as before a court of law, it does not entitle him to refuse to provide the chairman a copy of the document ordered for production.  



20.	From the legal point of view, as advised by Lord Lester QC, the legal principle as declared in the case of R v. Chief Constable of West Midlands Police, ex parte Wiley is that it is not possible to impose an indiscriminate blanket immunity on an entire class of documents on public interest grounds, unless necessity for this is shown by clear and compelling evidence, with a heavy burden of proof on any authority which makes such a claim on a class basis.  If such evidence cannot be provided, or fails to show the necessity of protecting the documents as a class, the class-based public interest immunity claim is not justified.  Public interest immunity may then only be claimed on the basis of the contents of a particular document (paragraph 65 of Lord Lester QC’s opinion).

�21.	I have taken into account all the considerations which, according to the Chief Secretary, would justify the claim of public interest immunity in respect of the ORC Report.  These have been detailed in a clear and accurate manner in paragraph 78 of Lord Lester QC’s legal opinion.  In the interest of time, I am not repeating them here.  However, these public interest considerations should not be looked at in isolation.   The disclosure of the ORC Report to the Committee is not a disclosure to the public.  The Chief Secretary is fully aware of the procedures available to the Committee for receiving evidence in camera.  This procedure has been applied on quite a number of occasions when the Government was prepared to give evidence on matters of a sensitive nature.  In my opening statement at the open hearing on 24 April 1997, and through questions put to the Chief Secretary during that hearing, different alternative means of providing the ORC Report to either the Committee or the chairman had been offered but rejected by the Chief Secretary.



22.	Balanced against the public interest assertion of the Chief Secretary is the public interest of protecting the integrity and effectiveness of the Committee’s investigative process in inquiring into a subject of legitimate public concern, namely, the circumstances surrounding the sudden departure of Mr Leung Ming-yin, the former Director of Immigration.  Lord Lester QC suggested that the rights, powers and privileges of the Legislative Council and its committees to seek, to receive and to disseminate information and opinions about the actions and omissions of the Government and public officers are essential for the effective discharge of its functions in acting as a constitutional watchdog, where necessary calling the Government to account.  The right to seek, receive and impart information and ideas is not absolute.  It is subject to necessary restriction, among others, for the prevention of crime, for the protection of the reputation or rights of others, and for preventing the disclosure of information received in confidence.  The public authority seeking to justify such a restriction must demonstrate, on the basis of cogent and persuasive evidence, that it is necessary (in accordance with the proportionality principle) to achieve the legitimate aim of the restriction.



23.	Quite a few alternative means for production of the ORC Report have been suggested to the Chief Secretary by the Committee in the last few months.  These alternatives were put to her again at the public hearing held on 24 April 1997.  Her answer to that was “I have considered every possible means whereby I could produce a copy of the ORC Report to this Committee, but having considered any possible means I have nevertheless, and I reiterate, I have nevertheless arrived at a decision that it would not be in the public interest to disclose that report”.  No specific reasons have been advanced by the Chief Secretary to substantiate her claim.



24.	In determining which of the two aspects of the public interest should prevail, I have also taken into account the Chief Secretary’s assertion that the ORC Report contains full details of investigations by the ICAC, together with the comments, views and assessment, including legal advice of the professionals concerned.  Some of these contents may be covered by other immunities such as legal professional privilege.  Even if that is so, there may be parts of the Report which do not contain information covered by the well established privileges.



25.	In all the circumstances, it is my opinion that the Chief Secretary has not provided sufficient reason to justify her claim of privilege on the ground that the production of the ORC Report would be contrary to the public interest.
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Appendix VI



Statement of the Hon IP Kwok-him

Chairman, Select Committee to Inquire into the Circumstances 

Surrounding the Departure of Mr LEUNG Ming-yin

from the Government and Related Issues





	After perusing the ICAC Report to the Operations Review Committee (ORC Report) produced by the Crown Solicitor (on behalf of the Chief Secretary) to me on 15 May 1997, I am of the view that  the ORC Report contains no material information upon which the Government’s decision was ultimately based which had been omitted from the information supplied to the Committee.  I have reported my conclusion to the Select Committee. 



	On 15 May 1997, the Attorney General’s Chambers (AGC) wrote to advise that the Attorney General was prepared to discontinue the proceedings for the application of a declaration with no order as to costs.  The AGC advised that subject to confirmation that the Select Committee would proceed no further on the disclosure of the ORC Report and agree that there should be no order as to costs, the AGC would file the notice of discontinuance.  The AGC further asserted that the Chief Secretary’s decision to disclose the ORC Report did not affect the fundamental stance of the Government as taken in the proceedings.



	After discussion, the Select Committee has decided that, firstly, it will not proceed further on the issue on the disclosure of the ORC Report and, secondly, it will not seek to require the Attorney General to pay its costs incurred as a result of the court proceedings commenced by the Attorney General.



	On the first point, the Committee had, in a letter dated 11 March 1997, already advised the Chief Secretary that if I, as the Chairman, was given access to the ORC Report and was able to advise the Committee that no material information upon which the Government’s decision was ultimately based had been omitted from the information supplied to the Committee, the Committee would proceed no further on the issue.  As the ORC Report has now been produced to me and as I have reported to the Committee that it does not contain any material information upon which the Government’s decision was ultimately based which had been omitted from the information supplied to the Committee, the Committee decides that it is not necessary to pursue further the issue on the disclosure of the ORC Report.



�	As for the second point,  having regard to the wider public interest the Committee has decided not to pursue the issue of costs.  If the issue was to be pursued, the Legislative Council and the Administration would be wasting  public money on arguing who should be responsible for the costs.  The sole purpose of the Committee’s demand for access to the ORC Report has been to  confirm that it has not been deprived of any substantive information upon which the Government relied to reach a decision to initiate the proposed Colonial Regulation 59 actions against Mr LEUNG Ming-yin.  This purpose has now been achieved.



	I should add here that while the Committee has been insistent on its demand, it all along has been open as to the means by which the Chief Secretary would produce the ORC Report.  Actually, before an order was made by the Committee on 9 May 1997, the Committee had proposed to the Chief Secretary different alternative means of providing the ORC Report to either the Committee or myself as Chairman.  

	

	Moreover, in the course of the inquiry, the Government officials have on several occasions proposed ways for producing documents which the Government regarded as confidential and sensitive to the Committee pursuant to the summonses served on them.  These proposals have been accepted by the Committee after considering the Government’s reasons for making the proposals.



	For instance, in response to the Committee’s request for the extended checking report on Mr LEUNG, the Secretary for the Civil Service produced a summary of the report in camera.  As regards the information concerning the ICAC investigation on Mr LEUNG, the Chief Secretary requested to produce the information in camera and obliterate all the names of persons/organizations mentioned in the documents.  The Committee also agreed to the Administration’s request to excise the names of persons/organizations from the soundtrack of the three video-tapes concerning the ICAC interviews with Mr LEUNG.



	In its order made on 9 May 1997, the Committee allowed the Chief Secretary to obliterate from the ORC Report the names of persons, and the comments, views and assessment, including legal advice, of professionals concerned.  This further illustrates that the Committee has been reasonable in its demands in seeking to carrying out its task in a responsible manner.



	The Committee deeply regrets that the Chief Secretary, instead of co-operating with the Committee to find ways acceptable to both the Committee and the Government for  producing the ORC Report, has resorted to instituting court proceedings before the Chairman of the Committee has formed an opinion as to whether her claim for public interest immunity is valid pursuant to 

the Resolution of the Legislative Council made and passed under section 15 of the Legislative Council (Powers and Privileges) Ordinance.

	



	Lastly, I reiterate that it is entirely the Committee’s privilege to decide on what information it should have in order that it is able to fully and fairly inquire into the circumstances of Mr LEUNG’s departure from the Government and related issues.  It is not for the Chief Secretary, herself as a witness in the inquiry, to say what is and what is not necessary for the Committee’s inquiry.  

















19 May 1997



�f



�	The SCS later clarified in writing that subsequent to the drafting of the CR 59 letter to Mr LEUNG, the Administration understood that the correct name of the company should be "New Hong Kong China Advertising Limited" and that the company had not been wound up, but Mr LEUNG's interest in it had ceased on 3 May 1995.



1 	The British Nationality Selection Scheme, which was implemented in December 1990, enables up to 50,000 persons and their dependants to acquire full British citizenship.



2 	"One-way permits" are issued by the Chinese Government to Chinese citizens for settlement in Hong Kong.



1 	Ms LIN Ching-hsia is a movie actress.



2 	Miss Lee San-san is a Miss Hong Kong.
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